© Adis International Limited, All rights reserved

Risk Factors Determining Chemotherapeutic Toxicity in Patients with Advanced Colorectal Cancer

Frank G.A. Jansman,¹ Dirk T. Sleijfer,² Jules L.L.M. Coenen,³ Jacques C. De Graaf³ and Jacobus R.B.J. Brouwers^{4,5}

- 1 Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, The Netherlands
- 2 Department of Medical Oncology, University Hospital Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands
- 3 Department of Medical Oncology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, The Netherlands
- 4 State University Groningen School of Pharmacy, GUIDE Research Institute, Groningen, The Netherlands
- 5 Department of Clinical Pharmacy, General Hospital De Tjongerschans, Heerenveen, The Netherlands

Contents

Abstract
1. Risk Factors for Toxicity
1.1 Age
1.2 Bodyweight
1.3 Lean Body Mass and Body Composition
1.4 Gender
1.5 Performance Status
1.6 Renal Function
1.7 Hepatic Function
1.8 Serum Albumin and Bilirubin
1.9 Pharmacogenetics
1.10 Drug Administration Schedule
1.11 Circadian Timing
1.12 Other Risk Factors
1.13 Drug-Drug Interactions
2. Implications of Risk Factors for Dosage Individualisation
3. Predictive Value of Pharmacokinetics for Toxicity
4. Discussion

Abstract

Antitumour therapy in advanced colorectal cancer has limited efficacy. For decades, fluorouracil has been the main anticancer drug for the treatment of colorectal cancer. Recently, however, new agents have been introduced: raltitrexed, irinotecan and oxaliplatin.

Currently, the dosage for an individual patient is calculated from the estimated body surface area of the patient. Toxicity, however, frequently necessitates decreasing the dosage, extending the dose interval or even discontinuing treatment. Risk

factors with predictive value for toxicity have been identified in several studies. These risk factors are often determined by the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of the drug. In this review, the risk factors for toxicity of the cytotoxic agents used in the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer are considered. For fluorouracil, age, gender, performance status, genetic polymorphism of dihydropyridine dehydrogenase, drug administration schedule, circadian rhythm of plasma concentrations, history of previous chemotherapy-related diarrhoea, xerostomia, low neutrophil levels, and drug-drug interactions have been identified as affecting chemotherapeutic toxicity. For raltitrexed, gender and renal and hepatic impairment, and for oxaliplatin, renal impairment and circadian rhythm of plasma concentrations, respectively, can be considered as risk factors for toxicity. In addition, age, performance status, bilirubinaemia, genetic polymorphism of uridine 5'-diphosphate-glucuronyltransferase-1A1 and drug administration schedule have been shown to be related to irinotecan toxicity.

The available literature suggests that dose adjustment based on these risk factors can be used to individualise the dose in order to decrease toxicity and to improve the therapeutic index. This also applies to therapeutic drug monitoring, which has been shown to be effective controlling the toxicity of fluorouracil in some studies.

Future research is warranted to assess the potential advantage of dose individualisation of chemotherapy founded on risk factors, over direct dose calculation from the estimated body surface area, with regard to toxicity, therapeutic index, and quality of life, in patients with advanced colorectal cancer.

Colorectal cancer is second to lung cancer in men and to breast cancer in women as the most common cause of death from cancer in the industrialised countries. ^[1] In Europe and the US, about 300 000 new cases of colorectal cancer are diagnosed and 200 000 deaths are registered each year. ^[2] With over half of all diagnosed patients dying as a result of metastatic spread, the prognosis of colorectal cancer is poor. ^[3]

Prognosis and survival are largely dependent on early detection and directly related to the pathophysiological tumour stage at the time of diagnosis. To define the tumour stage, the tumour node metastasis classification or the modified Dukes' staging system (grades A to D) are used. The staging systems use the extent of cancer penetration through the bowel wall, the number of lymph nodes involved and the presence of distant metastases to grade cancer severity. [4,5]

The first-line treatment for patients with colorectal cancer is radical surgery of the primary tumour. Adjuvant therapy currently consists of chemotherapy and, for rectal cancer, radiotherapy. Adjuvant immunotherapy, gene therapy and treatment with biological agents are currently under clinical investi-

gation. ^[2] For palliative treatment of advanced disease, surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy can be considered in order to improve the patient's duration and quality of life. ^[6]

For many years, chemotherapy has been limited to treatment with regimens containing fluorouracil. With adjuvant treatment with fluorouracil–based chemotherapy for Dukes' C colon cancer, an absolute survival improvement of 5% is achieved compared with controls, while in advanced colorectal cancer fluorouracil–based chemotherapy increases survival by 6 to 12 months. [2] In recent years, intensive research into new cytotoxic agents has been performed, of which raltitrexed, oxaliplatin and irinotecan seem the most promising.

Although fluorouracil-based chemotherapy has been used for 40 years, patients taking this agent can still experience substantial toxicity. In table I, the toxicity data of different schedules of fluorouracil in combination with folinic acid (leucovorin) are presented. The efficacies of the different schedules are more or less the same, although continuous infusion may be more efficacious than bolus injection. The available toxicity data for raltitrexed,

Table I. Toxicity data for fluoruoracil (FU)-folinic acid (FA) therapy in advanced colorectal cancera

Dose (mg/m ²)	Frequency of	No. of	Patients with >grade 2 toxicity (%) ^b								% TRD	Ref
	administration	patients (cumulative)	leucopenia	thromboytopenia	mucositis	diarrhoea	nausea	vomiting	alopecia ^c	hand-foot syndrome		
FU 370-400 bolus/FA 200 bolus	D×5, every 3-5W	403	4-19	5	14-30	9-19	3-8	6	11-40	NR	0-2	8-12
FU 370-425 bolus/FA 20 bolus (Mayo regimen)	D×5, every 3-5W	742	17-29	0-3	12-28	7-18	3-10	5-9	2-34	NR	0-3	7-9, 12-15
FU 500-600 bolus/FA 500 bolus/2-3h infusion (Roswell Park regimen)	D1, every W times 6, 2W rest	626	0-10	0-3	0-10	20-40	4-10	5	4	NR	0-6	13,14 16-19
FU 500-600 bolus/FA 20-25 bolus/2h infusion	D1, every W times 6, 2W rest	255	1-4	1	0	13-16	6	NR	NR	NR	0-4	18,19
FU 300-500 bolus + 400-600 22h infusion/FA 200 2h infusion (De Gramont regimen)	D1, D2 every 2W	309	2-3	NR	0-2	0-16	0-14	0	1-3	0	0	7,20, 21
FU 2600 24h infusion/FA 100-500 2-24 h infusion (AIO regimen)	D1, every W	271	0-1	0	0-14	0-29	0-14	0-5	0-18	3-19	0-5	22-27
FU 200 continuous infusion/FA 20 bolus	D1-D28, 1W rest/D1, D8, D15, D22, every 5W	122	0	0	11	11	NR	5	NR	24 ^c	0	13,28

a The data summarised includes those administration schedules that have been studied separately at least twice and results that have been published as full papers in the period from 1985 until March 2000.

b Minimum and maximum percentages as found in references.

c Any grade.

AIO = Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Internistische Onkologie (Association of Medical Oncology of the German Cancer Society); **D** = day; **H** = hour(ly); **NR** = not reported; **TRD** = toxicity/treatment related deaths; **W** = week(ly).

Drug Safety 2000 Oct; 23 (4)

Table II. Toxicity data for single-agent therapy with raltitrexed, irinotecan or oxaliplatin in advanced colorectal cancer

Agent/dose	Frequency	No. of										%	Ref			
(mg/m²)	of admini- stration	patients (cumula- tive)	leuco- penia	neutro- penia	thrombo- cytopenia		mucositis	diarrhoea	nausea/ vomiting		alopecia ^b	neuro- sensory/ peripheral neuro- pathy	pain	elevated trans- aminase levels	TRD	
Raltitrexed 3 15min infusion	D1, every 3W	646	6-15	NR	1-4	5-9	0-2	10-14	9-13	5-12°	NR	NR	5	10-13	2-4	30-32
Irinotecan 100-125 90min infusion	D1, every W times 4, 2W rest	166	NR	20	1	5	NR	27 ^d	10	16	25 (grade 2)	NR	NR	NR	0	33
Irinotecan 125-150 90min infusion	D1, every W times 4, 2W rest	48	25	31	2	10	NR	37 ^d	10	6	NR	NR	2 (abdo- minal)	NR	0	34
Irinotecan 300-350 30-90min infusion	D1, every 3W	796	35	14-46	1-2	7-11	0-2	10-38 ^d	11-20	8-18	11-59	NR	17-33	NR	0-2	35- 38, 39 ^e
Irinotecan 175 90min infusion	D1, D10/D11, every 3W	30	NR	12	NR	NR	NR	4 ^d	5	24	34 (> grade 3)	NR	NR	NR	NR	39 ^e
Oxaliplatin 130 2h infusion	D1, every 3W	169	NR	0-5	0-8	0-5	3	0-10	8-17	NR	NR	0-31	NR	NR	0	40-42

a Minimum and maximum percentage, found in references.

b Any grade.

c Severe, not WHO/National Cancer Institute common toxicity criteria graded.

d Late diarrhoea.

e Preliminary results.

D = day; **H** = hour(ly); **NR** = not reported; **TRD** = toxicity/treatment related deaths; **W** = week(ly).

irinotecan and oxaliplatin are shown in table II^[30-42] and the toxicity data from phase II/III studies with different combinations of irinotecan, oxaliplatin and fluorouracil-folinic acid are shown in table III. [43-53] Currently, the dosage of chemotherapy for an individual patient is calculated from the estimated body surface area of the patient. However, toxicity frequently necessitates decreasing the dosage, extending the dose interval or even discontinuing treatment. Risk factors with predictive value for toxicity have been identified in several studies and are discussed in this review. These risk factors are often determined by the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of the drug. Based on the risk factors, the most appropriate dose, dose schedule and/or supportive measures may be determined for the individual patient in order to reduce toxicity and thereby improve the therapeutic index.

In addition, the results of studies looking at the use of therapeutic drug monitoring in the treatment of colorectal cancer are discussed as well as the significance of this approach for controlling toxicity.

Relevant articles for inclusion in this review were identified by performing a literature search of English language articles published from 1980 to March 2000 using MEDLINE and Embase with the keywords pharmacokinetics, colorectal, cancer, toxicity and dose.

1. Risk Factors for Toxicity

Several risk factors for toxicity have been described in the literature for fluorouracil, raltitrexed, irinotecan and oxaliplatin (table IV). [14,29,31-33,39,54-77] Sometimes they were described as dependent or independent risk factors, but mostly this was not specified. Also, determination of the predictive value of risk factors for toxicity was, frequently, not the primary goal of the study but was considered secondary to overall efficacy and toxicity assessment.

1.1 Age

Dose adjustment as a function of individual physiology seems to be more appropriate than adjustment as a function of age.^[58] As age increases, physiological alterations may emerge such as hypoalbumin-

Table III

Table III. Toxicity data for combination chemotherapy used in advanced colorectal cancer

Agent/dose (mg/m²)	Frequency of	No. of	Patients	with >gr	ade 2 toxio	city (%)a								%	Ref
	(aumula	thrombo- cytopenia		mucositis	diarrhoea	nausea/ vomiting		alopecia ^b	neuropathy	pain	TRD				
Irinotecan 80-350 90min infusion/FU bolus and/or continuous infusion/FA low dose or high dose	Variable	487	15-64	18	0	0-6	0-9	12-24	9-15	6-7	21-67	NR	1-3 (abdominal)	0	43- 45, 46°
Oxaliplatin 50-135 2-6h infusion/FU bolus and/or continuous infusion/FA	Variable	442	10-39	9-18	2-13	0-9	0-18	0-53	0-28	NR	19-50	0-28	NR	0-2	47-52
Irinotecan 80 30min infusion/oxaliplatin 85 2h infusion	D1, D8, D15, every 4W/D1, D15, every 4W	36	19	11	6	3	0	19	17	NR	79	8	NR	0	53

a Minimum and maximum percentage found in references.

Chemotherapeutic Toxicity in Colorectal Cancer

b Any grade.

c Preliminary results.

D = day; FA = folinic acid; FU = fluorouracil; H = hour(ly); NR = not reported; TRD = toxicity/treatment related deaths; W = week(ly).

Table IV. Risk factors for toxicity and implications for optimising the treatment of colorectal cancer

Anticancer agent	Independent risk factor	Dependent risk factor	Effect on toxicity	Toxicity features	Implications for dose individualisation
Fluorouracil	Age > 65-70 years ^[29,54,55]		Toxicity increase	Leucopenia/mucositis ^a ; haematological/nonhaematological, including hand-foot syndrome ^b	Reduction
		Cachexia ^[56]	Toxicity increase	Neurotoxicity	None/reduction
		Low lean body mass ^[54]	Toxicity increase	Leucopenia	None/reduction
	Female gender ^[29,54,55,57]		Toxicity increase	Nonhaematological/hand-foot syndrome; leucopenia/mucositis	Reduction
	Poor performance status ^[29]		Toxicity increase	Haematological	Reduction
	Good performance status ^[29]		Toxicity increase	Nonhaematological	None/reduction
	Pharmacogenetics (DPD-polymorphism) ^[58-63]		Toxicity increase		DPD-deficiency (<0.100 nmol/min/mg protein): contraindicated
sched Bolus	Bolus vs CI administration schedule ^[29]		Toxicity increase	Haematological	
	Bolus vs CI administration schedule ^[29]		Toxicity decrease	Hand-foot syndrome	
	$D \times 5$ vs weekly administration schedule ^[14]		Toxicity increase	Leucopenia	
	$D \times 5$ vs weekly administration schedule ^[14]		Toxicity increase	Mucositis	
	D \times 5 vs weekly administration schedule ^[14]		Toxicity decrease	Diarrhoea	
		Circadian timing[64,65]	Toxicity decrease	Mucositis, diarrhoea	
	Previous chemotherapy- related diarrhoea ^[66]		Toxicity increase	Diarrhoea	No weekly schedule
		Summer season ^[66]	Toxicity increase	Diarrhoea	
	Xerostomia ^[67]		Toxicity increase	Mucositis	No D \times 5 schedule
	Neutrophils < 4000/mm ^{3[67]}		Toxicity increase	Mucositis	No D \times 5 schedule
Raltitrexed	Female gender ^[54]		Toxicity increase	Transaminase level elevation	Reduction
	Renal impairment ^[68,69]		Toxicity increase	Haematological/gastrointestinal	$\label{eq:crcl} $$ CrCl < 25 \text{ ml/min:} $$ contraindicated; 25 \text{ ml/min} < $$ CrCl < 65 \text{ ml/min:} $ dose \times 1/2, $$ interval 4 weeks $$$
	Hepatic impairment ^[31,32]		Toxicity increase	Transaminase level elevation	Severe impairment: contraindicated
Irinotecan	Age > 65-70 years[33,70]		Toxicity increase	(Late) diarrhoea	Reduction

Table IV cont.

aemia due to poor nutrition, reduction of hepatic or renal blood flow, influence of comedication, etc. [74] Variations in body composition and especially bodyweight loss may result in modifications of the volume of distribution for lipophilic drugs, and in variations of the plasma exposure as reflected by the area under the curve (AUC). Major pharmacokinetic variability has also been observed for nonlipophilic drugs. Pharmacokinetic variability appears to be increased in the elderly, partly because of glomerular filtration impairment and/or hypoproteinaemia, which can occur in those over 60 years of age. [78]

Zalcberg et al.^[54] investigated the relationships between the toxicities of fluorouracil and raltitrexed, and age, cycle number and gender in 439 patients. Approximately 20 to 24% of the patients in each treatment group were aged 70 years or older. Multiple regression analysis revealed that grade 3 and 4 leucopenia and mucositis were significantly correlated with age only for the combination fluorouracilfolinic acid (Mayo Clinic regimen). The incidence of grade 3 and 4 leucopenia was 21% for patients aged under 60 years, 32% for patients aged 60 to 69 years and 40% for patients aged over 70 years, while the incidence of grade 3 and 4 mucositis was 11, 26 and 36%, respectively. For raltitrexed, no significant differences between the age groups with regard to toxicity were observed in this study.

In a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials comparing fluorouracil continuous infusion with fluorouracil bolus injection, age was found to be an independent prognostic factor for haematological and nonhaematological toxicity and for hand-foot syndrome (palmar-plantar erythrodysesthesia). [29] Moreover, age appeared to be an independent predictor of severe toxicity (p < 0.001; univariate analysis) in a multicentre trial of fluorouracil-based chemotherapy. Analysis of toxicity data from 331 patients showed that age 70 years or over was significantly associated with the occurrence of any severe toxicity (58 vs 36% for age under 70 years; p < 0.001), leucopenia (24 vs 10%; p < 0.005), diarrhoea (24 vs 14%; p = 0.01), vomiting (15 vs 5%; p = 0.01), severe toxicity in more than 2 organ sys-

Ω	
E E	
5	
₹	
era	
ā	
Ξ.	
덛.	
9	
<u>6</u> .	
₹	
글.	
Chemotherapeutic Toxicity in Colorectal Cancer	
ŏ	
ĕ	
á	
$\bar{\circ}$	
3	
<u>e</u>	
•	

Anticancer agent	Independent risk factor	Dependent risk factor	Effect on toxicity	Toxicity features	Implications for dose individualisation
	Performance status > 1 ^[36,71]		Toxicity increase	Neutropenia/diarrhoea	Reduction
	Bilirubinaemia ^[72,73]		Toxicity increase	Intestinal	Bilirubin > 1.5 × ULN: contraindicated; 1.0 × ULN < bilirubin < 1.5 × ULN: TDM
	Pharmacogenetics (UDPGT1A1- polymorphism) ^[60,74,75]		Toxicity increase		UDPGT-deficiency (Gilbert's syndrome, Crigler-Najjar type I): contraindicated
	Administration schedule (175 mg/m² D1 and D10 or D11, every 3W) ^[39]		Toxicity decrease		Unknown (preliminary results)
Oxaliplatin	Renal impairment ^[76]				CrCl < 30 ml/min: contraindicated
		Circadian timing[77]	Toxicity decrease	Neurotoxicity/neutropenia	Preference for chronomodulation

a Mayo regimen.

CI = continuous infusion; CrCI = creatinine clearance; D = day; DPD = dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase; TDM = therapeutic drug monitoring; ULN = upper limit of normal range; UDPGT = uridine 5'-diphosphate-glucuronyltransferase; W = week.

b Continuous infusion.

tems (10 vs 3%; p = 0.02) and treatment-related mortality (9 vs 2%; p = 0.01). [55]

The dose-limiting toxicities of irinotecan are delayed diarrhoea (occurring >24 hours after administration) and neutropenia. In a phase II study by Rougier et al. [36] delayed diarrhoea was more frequent and more severe in patients older than 65 years (p = 0.059) and there was a tendency for less frequent grade 3 and 4 neutropenia in patients under 65 years of age. [36] With regard to diarrhoea, this result was confirmed by a study with oral irinotecan, wherein all patients developing grade 4 diarrhoea were 65 years of age or over. [70]

Furthermore, Rothenberg et al.^[33] found a significant association between the incidence of delayed diarrhoea and age 65 years or more (p = 0.008) in a multicentre phase II trial with 166 patients when all cycles of administration were examined.^[33] For oxaliplatin, no data are available so far with regard to the association between age and toxicity.

1.2 Bodyweight

The main physiological changes that occur in individuals who are overweight that affect drug disposition are alterations in blood volume, cardiac output, lean body mass, organ size and adipose tissue mass.^[74] The volume of distribution of anticancer drugs may be different in patients who are overweight. Hepatic drug metabolism is influenced variably: the extent of phase II conjugation increases with bodyweight, while acetylation and oxidation reactions remain unaffected by changes in bodyweight. Furthermore, the effect of bodyweight on renal clearance depends on the fraction of the drug excreted by glomerular filtration.^[56]

From the limited data available, it can be concluded that being overweight seems to influence the disposition and elimination of cytotoxic agents. Because being overweight is a common clinical problem, prospective pharmacokinetic studies are needed to show whether increased bodyweight is a risk factor for toxicity. [79]

The influence of cachexia on the pharmacology of anticancer drugs is also not clear as yet. For fluorouracil and folinic acid, patients with malnutrition experienced more neurotoxicity as the clearance of the fluorouracil metabolite was decreased. [56]

No data are yet available on the influence of excess bodyweight and cachexia on the pharmaco-kinetics of raltitrexed, irinotecan and oxaliplatin.

1.3 Lean Body Mass and Body Composition

Several characteristics of body size have been proposed to be correlated with drug clearance. Among these, lean body mass (LBM) has been suggested to correlate better to drug clearance than body surface area or bodyweight. However, a standard method for determining LBM, which depends on height, bodyweight and age, is not available.^[80]

The volume of distribution of hydrophilic drugs correlates very well with LBM, with correlation coefficients of up to 0.9. For lipophilic drugs, the volume of distribution correlates better with bodyweight than with LBM. For drugs eliminated by the liver, especially in patients who are obese, LBM is valuable for calculating maintenance doses because hepatic clearance for these drugs is proportional to LBM.^[81]

The influence of body composition on pharmacokinetics has been investigated for several anticancer drugs.^[82] These drugs vary widely in terms of hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity and their volume of distribution is therefore influenced more or less by differences in body composition.

In the study of Zalcberg et al., [54] mentioned in section 1.1, univariate analysis of toxicity and LBM showed a statistically significant relationship between low LBM and grade 3/4 leucopenia for patients receiving fluorouracil-folinic acid (p = 0.009). This significance disappeared on multivariate analysis, suggesting that the univariate effect was caused by gender, as females have a lower LBM than males. A nonsignificant trend was found for the association of mucositis with low LBM for fluorouracil-folinic acid (p = 0.07). [54] However, Fleming et al. [83] reported the fluorouracil clearance to be unaffected by nutritional status in patients with head and neck cancer.

For raltitrexed, there was a trend (p = 0.08) for the association between low LBM and elevated transaminase levels as a measure for hepatic toxicity. [54]

1.4 Gender

Differences in toxicity between men and women may be related to differences in LBM or body composition. In the meta-analysis of trials with different fluorouracil administration schedules, gender appeared to be an independent prognostic factor for grade 3 and 4 nonhaematological toxicity and for hand-foot syndrome, with female patients having a significantly higher risk of toxicity. [29] For haematological toxicity, no difference between the genders was found.

Univariate analysis of toxicity data from the multicentre trial with fluorouracil-based chemotherapy revealed that female gender was an independent predictor of any severe toxicity (p < 0.0001). Women experienced an increased incidence of leucopenia (p < 0.0005), infection (p < 0.005), diarrhoea (p < 0.01), multiorgan system toxicity (p = 0.01) and vomiting (p = 0.03). [55]

A meta-analysis of 6 North Central Cancer Treatment Group (NCCTG) trials involving 731 patients receiving their first fluorouracil-based chemotherapy was undertaken to explore the association of gender with the incidence and severity of stomatitis. Statistic analysis revealed that the incidence of any stomatitis for women was 63% versus 52% for men (p = 0.002). The incidence of severe or very severe stomatitis for men and women was 22 and 12%, respectively (p = 0.0006). On average, women reported stomatitis with severity roughly 0.4 points higher than men on a 0 to 4 ordinal scale (p < 0.00001). Furthermore, women were 11% more likely than men to experience leucopenia of National Cancer Institute (NCI) common toxicity criteria grade >0 (70 vs 59%; p < 0.00001) and grade >2 (18 vs 11%; p = 0.004).^[84]

In the phase III trial of Zalcberg et al.^[54] comparing fluorouracil-folinic acid with raltitrexed, 41% of the 439 patients were female. In the fluorouracil-folinic acid group, female patients experienced significantly more leucopenia grade 3/4 than

male patients (39 vs 23%, respectively; p < 0.05). In the raltitrexed group, significantly more female patients had increases in transaminase levels (16 vs 7%, respectively; p < 0.05).^[54]

A study involving 26 patients revealed that fluorouracil clearance was higher in males than in females.^[84] This was confirmed in a larger trial with 380 patients, indicating that a gender difference with regard to fluorouracil toxicity may be due to a lower capacity to clear fluorouracil in women than in men.^[85]

In a phase II trial of weekly irinotecan therapy, Rothenberg et al.^[33] found no significant association between grade 3/4 events and gender. This was in accordance with the earlier observations of Gupta et al.,^[72] who found no difference between either incidence and severity of toxicity based on gender.

1.5 Performance Status

The Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG), the World Health Organization (WHO) and Karnofsky performance status scales are widely used to evaluate the functional status of patients with cancer to determine their eligibility for clinical trials and their prognosis. The ECOG and WHO scales range from 0 (normal activity, no complaints) to 4 (completely disabled, 100% bedridden) and the Karnofsky scale ranges from 100 (normal activity, no complaints) to 0 (deceased). [86] Although performance status is influenced by many factors, it can also be taken as an independent prognostic factor.

A meta-analysis of different administration schedules of fluorouracil revealed that performance status was an independent prognostic factor for toxicity. Patients with a poor performance status had a significantly higher risk of haematological toxicity (p = 0.03), while patients with a good performance status had a higher risk of nonhaematological toxicity (p = 0.007). [29]

In a phase II study with irinotecan, a baseline performance status of >1 on the ECOG scale was a risk factor for the development of grade 3/4 neutropenia and diarrhoea. [36] In another study, performance status was found to be significantly related

to the percentage decrease of the white blood cell count.^[71]

1.6 Renal Function

In patients with renal failure, treatment adjustments are made depending on the agent involved.^[58] Guidelines for dose adjustment for impaired renal function are available, although the objective information for many drugs is scarce or even nonexistent. As a result, the existing guidelines are largely empirical.^[56]

A deterioration of renal function may cause drug accumulation and increased toxicity. Dose adjustment is usually recommended for drugs that are excreted unchanged or as active metabolites by the kidney by more than one-third if glomerular filtration rate is less than 70% of the normal value.^[78]

For fluorouracil, plasma renal clearance accounts for about 5% of total clearance, so dose adjustment is not indicated in patients with renal impairment. [87] 40 to 50% of the administered dose of raltitrexed is excreted unchanged into the urine. Because of the risk of severe haematological and gastrointestinal toxicity, raltitrexed should not be used in patients with renal dysfunction [creatinine clearance (CrCl) <25 ml/min]. In patients with mild to moderate renal impairment (CrCl 25 to 65 ml/min), dose and treatment frequency reduction is recommended. [68,69]

The mean 24-hour irinotecan urinary excretion represents 17 to 25% of the administered dose, while the recovery of the active metabolite SN-38 and its glucuronide in urine represents only 1 to 3%. [88] Therefore, dose adjustment does not seem to be necessary in patients with impaired renal function, although this has not been confirmed by clinical data as yet.

In a study conducted by Massari et al.,^[89] oxaliplatin was administered without any pre- or posthydration to patients with normal and impaired renal function, respectively. After a single dose of oxaliplatin 130 mg/m², a positive correlation was found between the plasma platinum clearance and renal function. However, the toxicities reported in the 2 groups of patients were similar. To date, no

comparative data are available for patients who received repeated cycles of treatment. According to the manufacturer's information, oxaliplatin should not be given to patients with severely impaired renal function (CrCl <30 ml/min).^[76]

1.7 Hepatic Function

The (patho)physiological defect underlying abnormal hepatic function values can be primarily hepatocellular, biliary obstructive or mixed. The effect of hepatic impairment on drug clearance therefore depends on the route of elimination of the drug. A parenchymal defect will have most effect on drugs eliminated by biotransformation (e.g. anthracyclines, oxazaphosphorines), whereas an obstructive defect mainly influences the clearance of drugs excreted unchanged by the hepatobiliary route (e.g. vinca alkaloids).^[90]

In patients with hepatic failure, dose adjustment may be required for drugs that are hepatically cleared. The guidelines for dose adjustment, however, are largely based on empirical data and are sometimes even conflicting. [56]

For fluorouracil, the liver is considered to be the main organ of elimination. The effect of liver dysfunction as such on pharmacokinetics (i.e. elimination) has not been well studied. Drug bioavailability and disposition, respectively, do not seem to be significantly altered in patients with hepatic dysfunction or hepatic metastases, indicating that no dose adjustment is required in patients with liver impairment. [83,91,92] However, fluorouracil is converted mainly in the liver into 5-fluorodihydrouracil by the enzyme dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD). Owing to constitutional differences in enzymatic expression, there is a substantial interindividual heterogeneity in catabolising activity (see section 1.9). [59,93]

Raltitrexed undergoes intracellular polyglutamation, leading to more potent inhibitors of thymidylate synthase than fluorouracil. Furthermore, the polyglutamates are retained within cells longer than raltitrexed and cause enhanced and extended inhibition of thymidylate synthase. Apart from polyglutamation, raltitrexed is not metabolised in the liver nor in the other metabolising organs. In a comparative study of 7 patients with mild to moderate hepatic impairment and 8 patients with normal hepatic function the plasma concentration-versus-time profiles in the 2 patient groups were similar. [68] However, significant elevations in transaminase levels (grade III/IV) have been reported in over 10% of patients using raltitrexed. These elevations were more common in patients with abnormal baseline transaminase levels or hepatic metastases. Raltitrexed, therefore, should not be used in patients with severe hepatic impairment, clinically manifest jaundice or a decompensated liver function. [31,32]

Irinotecan is extensively metabolised in the liver into its active metabolite SN-38 by the carboxylesterase enzyme system. SN-38 is mainly glucuronidated by hepatic uridine 5'-diphosphate-glucuronyltransferase (UDPGT). The cumulative biliary excretion is 25% for irinotecan and 1 to 3% for SN-38 and its glucuronide. Certain hepatic parameters have been correlated negatively with irinotecan total body clearance, such as bilirubinaemia and γ -glutamyl transpeptidase.

An additional significant positive correlation between the metabolic ratio of the AUC of SN-38 to the AUC of irinotecan, and the liver function parameters bilirubinaemia, AST and ALT, respectively, was observed. Since the AUC of irinotecan and SN-38 have been correlated significantly with leucopenia and, sometimes, with the intensity of diarrhoea, dose adjustment based on hepatic parameters may improve the therapeutic index. [88,94,95]

Within 3 days of intravenous administration, 50% of oxaliplatin is recovered in urine, whereas faecal excretion is minimal.^[96] Hepatic biotransformation seems to be of no or minor importance, i.e. dose adjustment in patients with liver impairment is not required.

1.8 Serum Albumin and Bilirubin

Acidic and basic drugs tend to bind to albumin and α 1-glycoprotein, respectively. Hypoalbuminaemia caused by liver impairment, nephrotic syndrome, malabsorption or malnutrition can significantly decrease the extent of plasma binding, which

is clinically relevant for those drugs that are at least 90% protein-bound.^[90]

A subnormal serum albumin level will increase the unbound fraction of highly bound drugs. As bilirubin is also bound to albumin, an increased serum bilirubin level can displace the drug from albumin by competition, and again increase the unbound fraction. In both situations, the result is an increase in systemic exposure, i.e. AUC, of the active drug. Moreover, increased serum bilirubin is frequently associated with liver impairment, which decreases the clearance of total as well as unbound drug. In conclusion, it is very complicated to predict the net effect of hypoalbuminaemia, hyperbilirubinaemia and/or liver impairment on the pharmacokinetics of highly bound drugs. [97,98]

A study of prognostic factors for the toxicity of fluorouracil in 130 patients revealed that baseline serum albumin was not predictive for toxicity. [99] Since fluorouracil is only 10% protein-bound, this result was to be expected. [100]

Although 93% of raltitrexed is bound to plasma proteins, no data are available on the effect of low albumin levels or high bilirubin levels on pharmacokinetics and/or toxicity parameters.^[101]

The plasma protein binding for irinotecan and SN-38 is 65% and 95%, respectively. [88] Decreased glucuronidation of SN-38 to the inactive SN-38 glucuronide can lead to accumulation of active metabolite and enhanced biliary excretion of SN-38. This biliary excretion has been suggested to determine the severity of diarrhoea, the dose-limiting toxicity of irinotecan.[60,102] In a study of 40 patients, grade 3 or 4 intestinal toxicity was associated with significantly higher values of the biliary index (BI) than grade 0 to 2 toxicity (p < 0.001); the BI being defined as the product of the AUC of irinotecan and the ratio of the AUCs of SN-38 to SN-38 glucuronide (biliary ratio).^[72] Because glucuronidation of SN-38 and conjugation of bilirubin are catalysed by the same isoenzyme, UDPGT-1A1, unconjugated serum bilirubin may be predictive for irinotecan toxicity.[74] For irinotecan, significant correlations have been observed between bilirubinaemia and total body clearance and

metabolic ratio, respectively (see section 1.7). As a result, administration of irinotecan is contraindicated in patients with a bilirubin >1.5 times the upper limit of the normal range (ULN), and in patients with bilirubin 1.0 to 1.5 times the ULN, monitoring of serum concentrations is recommended.^[73]

Approximately 85% of plasma oxaliplatin rapidly becomes protein-bound. The proportion of protein-bound platinum increases with time to 95% at 5 days after administration. At equilibrium, about 50% of oxaliplatin is bound to red blood cells. Red blood cell platinum from oxaliplatin is not exchangeable into plasma and it accumulates with a mean half-life consistent with that of erythrocytes. Oxaliplatin does not accumulate in plasma, which explains the reversibility of the dose-limiting neurotoxicity. [96,103] The impact of low albumin and high bilirubin levels on the pharmacokinetics of oxaliplatin is not known.

1.9 Pharmacogenetics

Drug metabolism is a major determinant of variability in the pharmacokinetics of anticancer drugs, which is frequently due to polymorphism in the genes for drug-metabolising enzymes, i.e. genetic polymorphism.^[60]

Pharmacogenetic phenotyping is not frequently carried out in clinical practice as yet, although for some anticancer drugs, such as fluorouracil, its clinical relevance has been proven. [90] Phenotyping may therefore be a potential target for therapeutic drug monitoring of several other anticancer drugs. [90]

Genetic polymorphism has been characterised for fluorouracil detoxicification by DPD.^[58] DPD catalyses the initial rate-limiting step in the catabolism of fluorouracil to dihydrouracil. Patients who lack this enzyme will have an 80 to 90% reduction in fluorouracil clearance and this has been associated with severe toxicity of the drug in several reports. ^[58-62] In a population study by Etienne et al., ^[63] a significant DPD deficiency (<0.100 nmol/min/mg protein) was found in only 3% of patients. Therefore, it was concluded that pretreatment determination of DPD activity is not a useful indicator for dose individualisation, although the identification of se-

vere DPD deficiency could warrant using a decreased starting dose or even using an alternative chemotherapy regimen.^[63] On the other hand, the introduction of potent inhibitors of DPD may facilitate effective treatment with small oral doses of fluorouracil.^[104,105]

Raltitrexed is converted intracellularly by the enzyme folylpolyglutamyl synthase (FPGS) to cytotoxic polyglutamates. Genetic polymorphism of FPGS has been suggested to be related to the high number of drug-related deaths in the raltitrexed group in the recently suspended Pan European Trial in Adjuvant Colon Cancer-1 (ETACC-1) trial. [106,107] Another hypothesis is that the raltitrexed toxic deaths may be associated with patients with a lower CrCl, i.e. impaired renal function. Although genetic polymorphism could contribute to variations between individuals in sensitivity to raltitrexed, confirmatory studies are needed for the identification of pharmacogenetics as a risk factor for adverse effects. [106,107]

For irinotecan, variability in glucuronidation may be toxicity-related (see section 1.8). The high interpatient variability of irinotecan and SN-38 pharmacokinetics may be due to genetic polymorphism of UDPGT-1A1, the UDPGT isoenzyme responsible for the metabolism of SN-38. [108] Further knowledge of the metabolic mechanism is required to assess the possible consequence for dose individualisation. [88] Anyhow, patients with Gilbert's syndrome and Crigler-Najjar type I syndrome, characterised by a UDPGT deficiency, are at increased risk of toxicity and should, therefore, be excluded from irinotecan therapy. [60,74,75]

The main activation pathways of oxaliplatin are reactions with plasma bicarbonate and with intracellular bicarbonate and phosphate. Inactivation occurs mainly by reactions with strong nucleophiles. Since the major activation and inactivation routes do not require (extra)hepatic enzymes, pharmacogenetic factors are unlikely to play a role in interpatient pharmacokinetic variability. [96,109]

1.10 Drug Administration Schedule

The toxicity of anticancer agents have shown to be dependent on the drug administration schedule. The toxicity profiles of fluorouracil and folinic acid are significantly associated with cycle number and drug administration schedule. As is shown in tables I, the most commonly used administration schedules have different toxicity profiles. In a meta-analysis of randomised trials based on individual data from 1219 patients, haematological toxicity was observed more frequently with fluorouracil bolus than with fluorouracil continuous infusion (31 and 4% respectively; p < 0.0001). Hand-foot syndrome was less frequent with fluorouracil bolus than with fluorouracil continuous infusion (13 and 34%, respectively; p < 0.0001). [29]

In a study of 7 fluorouracil-based treatment regimens^[13] 3 were schedules which involved the combination of fluorouracil with folinic acid: (i) fluorouracil bolus with low dose folinic acid (5 days, every 4 to 5 weeks; n = 85; (ii) fluorouracil bolus with high dose folinic acid (once a week for 6 weeks, followed by 2 weeks rest for each 8-week cycle; n = 85); and (iii) fluorouracil continuous infusion with low dose folinic acid (days 1 to 28 of a 5-week cycle; n = 81). As in the meta-analysis, [29] this study showed that more severe haematological toxicity was associated with the rapid intravenous than with the continuous infusion arm of the study.[13] Diarrhoea occurred most frequently in the once a week for 6 weeks arm compared with the every 5 days or the continuous infusion arm. Although a statistical comparison was not made in this study, the results are indicative of administration schedule-dependent toxicity.[13]

In a large multicentre trial, the toxicity profiles of fluorouracil 425 mg/m² bolus plus folinic acid 20 mg/m^2 (daily for 5 days with courses repeated every 4 to 5 weeks; n = 183) and fluorouracil 600 mg/m² bolus plus folinic acid 500 mg/m² (weekly for 6 weeks with courses repeated every 8 weeks; n = 179) were compared. Differences were significant (p < 0.01) for severe leucopenia (29% for the daily regimen vs 5% for the weekly regimen), grade 3/4 mucositis (24% for the daily regimen vs 2% for

the weekly regimen) and grade 3/4 diarrhoea (18% for the daily regimen *vs* 32% for the weekly regimen).^[14]

In summary, bolus injection of fluorouracil is associated with a higher risk for haematological toxicity than continuous infusion, whereas hand-foot syndrome is less frequent with bolus injection. Moreover, leucopenia and mucositis are observed more frequently with intensive courses of therapy using daily for 5-day administration than with weekly administration, whereas diarrhoea is more frequent with weekly administration.

Phase III clinical trials with raltitrexed only evaluated an administration schedule of 3 mg/m² once every 3 weeks, so a comparison between different schedules in terms of toxicity patterns is not possible.^[30-32]

For irinotecan the phase II recommended dosages were 240 to 350 mg/m² every 3 weeks and 100 to 150 mg/m² per week.^[33-38] Owing to a lack of data from comparative studies, no conclusions can be drawn with regard to differences in toxicity. Based on the results available, there seems to be no major difference between these schedules in the severity and frequency of the dose-limiting toxicities diarrhoea and leucopenia.[33-38] Recently, however, preliminary results were presented of a comparison of irinotecan 350 mg/m² every 21 days and a new schedule of irinotecan 175 mg/m² on days 1 and 10 or 11 every 21 days.[39] Analysis of the results indicates that administration of the same total dose of irinotecan divided into 2 doses every 21 days yields similar efficacy but a lower incidence of toxicity (see table II).

In phase I trials, oxaliplatin was administered in different doses by short infusion (1 to 12 hours) and by (chronomodulated) continuous infusion. [96] With short infusion, as with continuous infusion, the dose-limiting toxicities are neutropenia and peripheral neuropathy. A direct comparison has been made only between constant and circadian rhythmmodulated infusion (see section 1.11). The total cumulative dose is considered to be more predictive for toxicity than is the maximum tolerated dose. Based on the estimated cumulative levels, the cur-

rently recommended dosage schedules are 130 mg/m² given over 2 hours every 3 weeks and 125 to 150 mg/m² given as a chronomodulated intravenous infusion over 5 consecutive days every 3 weeks.^[96]

1.11 Circadian Timing

Some anticancer agents show circadian changes in their pharmacokinetics. A circadian rhythm in the plasma concentration was demonstrated for fluorouracil administered as a continuous infusion for 5 days, which may be correlated to altering DPD activity. Harris et al.[110], found a 5-fold variation in plasma fluorouracil concentration during continuous infusion. The decrease of fluorouracil concentration during the night time appeared to be related to an increase in DPD activity, and vice versa during day time. As a consequence, with the availability of programmable pumps, information on the circadian pattern of fluorouracil and DPD may be useful for planning infusion schedules in order to maintain an optimal plasma drug concentration over a 24-hour cycle.[110-112]

A study of fluorouracil and oxaliplatin by Metzger et al.^[64] indicated that chronomodulation by adapting continuous infusion rates of fluorouracil to plasma concentrations may decrease mucosal toxicity and, therefore, may permit dose escalation. Giacchetti et al.[113] found that a 6-hour infusion of oxaliplatin 125 mg/m² added significant activity to chronomodulated fluorouracil-folinic acid as firstline chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer, with acceptable toxicity.[113] In addition, preliminary results from Bochicchio et al.[65] showed the reversibility of toxicity by using a chronomodulated schedule in patients who previously had to stop therapy with continuous infusion of fluorouracil at a constant rate for toxicity reasons (mucositis, diarrhoea).

For irinotecan, a pilot study has been performed, with success, into the feasibility of chronomodulated delivery of the drug. [114] This study is now being continued as a comparative trial of chronomodulated versus standard infusion.

Caussanel et al.^[77] studied the toxic effect of 5-day administration of oxaliplatin by constant infusion (12

evaluable patients) or circadian rhythm-modulated infusion (11 evaluable patients). Mild and severe neurotoxicity were observed more frequently with the constant than with the chronomodulated infusion (28 vs 2% of cycles, respectively; p < 0.001). Also, the incidence of neutropenia grade \geq 2 was lower with the circadian-modulated schedule (2 vs 19%; p < 0.05). [77] In the meantime, several circadian-modulated schedules have been developed to obtain higher concentrations of oxaliplatin and to reduce dose-limiting toxicity. [115-120]

1.12 Other Risk Factors

The Italian Group for the Study of Digestive Tract Cancer evaluated different factors that might influence fluorouracil-induced diarrhoea. They found that a history of previous episodes of chemotherapyrelated diarrhoea (p < 0.00005) and summer season (p < 0.014) to be significant risk factors for developing diarrhoea. Therefore, patients who have experienced diarrhoea in earlier courses of chemotherapy should be carefully monitored.[66] Although patients may be at higher risk for fluorouracil-induced diarrhoea during summer, seasonal dose adjustment is not likely to be indicated.

The results of another study of risk factors associated with mucositis in 63 patients receiving fluorouracil showed that xerostomia at baseline, xerostomia during chemotherapy and lower baseline neutrophil levels were significant predictors of oral mucositis. As a result, in patients with xerostomia or low neutrophil levels, a dose schedule with a low frequency of mucositis can be recommended, i.e. a weekly schedule. [67]

1.13 Drug-Drug Interactions

The drug interactions of fluorouracil and irinotecan are summarised in table V. The main drugdrug interactions that have been described for fluorouracil are the interactions with the anticancer drugs cyclophosphamide and methotrexate, and interactions with folinic acid, interferon- α , allopurinol, dipyramidol, metronidazole, cimetidine and warfarin. [121-127] Of these interactions, interferon- α , methotrexate and folinic acid are added to fluoro-

Anticancer agent	Drug-drug interactions	Effect	Implications for dose individualisation
Fluorouracil	Allopurinol	AUC of FU increased; MTD of FU increased	TDM for FU/avoid allopurinol
	Dipyramidol	AUC of FU increased; Vd of FU increased	TDM for FU/avoid dipyridamol
	Metronidazole	CI of FU decreased and toxicity increased	TDM for FU/avoid metronidazole
	Cimetidine	AUC of FU increased	TDM for FU/avoid cimetidine
	Warfarin	PTT increased	Dose adjustment for warfarin based on PTT
Irinotecan	Valproic acid (sodium valproate)	AUC of SN-38 increased (data in rats)	Unknown
	Phenobarbital (phenobarbitone)	AUC of irinotecan and AUC of SN-38 decreased (data in rats)	Unknown
	Cyclosporin	CI of irinotecan decreased (data in rats)	Unknown

Table V. Drug interactions for fluorouracil and irinotecan and their implications for dose individualisation in the treatment of colorectal cancer

AUC = area under the concentration-time curve; CI = clearance; FU = folinic acid; MTD = maximum tolerated dose; PTT = prothrombin time; SN-38 = active metabolite of irinotecan; TDM = therapeutic drug monitoring Vd = volume of distribution.

uracil deliberately to enhance efficacy. Cyclophosphamide is not used in the treatment of colorectal cancer.

Allopurinol inhibits oxipurinol orotate phosphoribosyltransferase, resulting in a decreased formation of fluorodeoxyuridine monophosphate and fluorouracil triphosphate. Coadministration of allopurinol increases the maximum tolerated dose and AUC of fluorouracil and can diminish granulocytopenia produced by bolus doses of fluorouracil. [121,122]

Dipyridamol 7.7 mg/kg/day was found to increase fluorouracil clearance or volume of distribution at steady-state by 30%. [123]

When fluorouracil bolus given daily for 5 days is combined with a metronidazole bolus given daily for 5 days, the toxicity of fluorouracil increases due to a 27% reduction in the clearance of fluorouracil, whereas cytotoxicity is not modified.^[124]

Pretreatment with cimetidine for 4 weeks resulted in higher peak plasma concentrations and AUC of fluorouracil, which may be caused by hepatic enzyme inhibition and reduced hepatic blood flow.^[125]

Fluorouracil has been shown to increase bleeding time and prothrombin time in patients receiving warfarin therapy. Several patients have been described with more or less severe morbidity and prolonged hospitalisation caused by this interaction. [126]

Raltitrexed has been found not to displace warfarin from its plasma protein binding site *in vitro*, although 93% of raltitrexed is bound to plasma proteins. [101] Because of the active tubular secretion of raltitrexed contributing to its renal clearance, a potential interaction with similarly excreted drugs, such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, cannot be excluded. However, during clinical trials, such an interaction has not been observed.

There have been some studies in rats to evaluate the drug interactions of irinotecan with other drugs. Valproic acid (sodium valproate), an inhibitor of glucuronidation, appeared to block the glucuronidation of SN-38 and increased the AUC of SN-38, whereas irinotecan pharmacokinetics remained unchanged. Phenobarbital (phenobarbitone) pretreatment was shown to reduce both the AUC of SN-38 and the AUC of irinotecan, probably by inducing UDPGT activity. [128] Cyclosporin administered to rats reduced irinotecan clearance by decreasing biliary excretion. [129]

In humans, the simultaneous administration of fluorouracil-folinic acid during chemotherapy with irinotecan showed no substantial effects on the metabolism and pharmacokinetics of irinotecan. [130] Also, the biotransformation rate of irinotecan into SN-38 was not significantly changed by adding fluorouracil-folinic acid. [130]

Preliminary data from a study by Lokiec et al.^[131] suggested a positive pharmacokinetic interaction between irinotecan and oxaliplatin. The AUCs of irinotecan and SN-38 measured in this study after coadministration of irinotecan and oxaliplatin were as high as the AUCs found after monotherapy with irinotecan at 80 to 130% higher dosages. In contrast, Wasserman et al.^[132] recently reported similar pharmacokinetic results for coadministered irinotecan and for oxaliplatin to those obtained from previous studies when the drugs were used as single agents.

Fluorouracil is assumed not to modify oxaliplatin pharmacokinetics since fluorouracil does not influence the pharmacokinetics of cisplatin and carboplatin, fluorouracil is poorly bound to plasma proteins and its metabolism is very different from that of oxaliplatin.^[103]

Several combinations of fluorouracil, raltitrexed, irinotecan and oxaliplatin have been or are currently being investigated in clinical studies.

2. Implications of Risk Factors for Dosage Individualisation

The risk factors that influence toxicity discussed in section 1 are summarised in tables IV and V. The question remains as to what individual preventive measures should be taken in the presence of one or more risk factors in order to prevent toxicity. Currently, in clinical practice, dosage reduction or extension of the dosage interval are utilised when substantial toxicity has been experienced. This approach cannot prevent severe toxicity occurring in some patients (tables I, II and III). As a consequence, adjusting the dosage before initial treatment, considering relevant individual risk factors is likely to improve the therapeutic index and quality of life. The percentage dose reduction that is most appropriate for dose individualisation is unknown, but in general a 10 to 50% reduction in patients experiencing toxicity is used, depending on the nature and degree of toxicity, the treatment centre and/or the physician. Therefore, the optimal dose adjustment for toxicity control, which is largely dependent on pharmacokinetics, has to be determined in prospective trials.

3. Predictive Value of Pharmacokinetics for Toxicity

Several studies have been performed to investigate the relationship between pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of the drugs discussed in this article. The results of pharmacokinetic studies in relation to toxicity, published between 1980 and March 2000 (MEDLINE, Embase), are shown in table VI. These data demonstrate that pharmacokinetics can be predictive for toxicity. For fluorouracil, some studies[139,152,153] have revealed that individual dose adjustment based on pharmacokinetic parameters leads to reduced toxicity and/or enhanced efficacy. Santini et al.[152] prospectively validated the relationship, found earlier by their group, [134] between elevated AUC values (>30 mg/L•h) of fluorouracil and the frequency of cycles in which signs of toxicity were observed (n = 89). Subsequently, the individual AUC was estimated midway through a 5-day course in 81 patients to decide whether dose reduction during the second half of the cycle was required in order to achieve a target AUC. This resulted in a significant decrease in the incidence of toxic cycles (> grade 2: 12.4 vs 20% of patients, 0.02) and higher complete response rates(47 vs 31% of patients, 0.02 ^[152]

In a dose-escalation study, Gamelin et al. [138] defined a therapeutic range for fluorouracil plasma concentrations from 2000 to 3000 μg/L (AUC_{0-8h}: 16 to 24 mg/L•h) for a weekly regimen. In a subsequent study in 152 patients, the initial dose of fluorouracil was adapted weekly according to individual fluorouracil plasma concentrations to reach this therapeutic range. In comparison with the results previously reported with weekly fluorouracil schedules, dosage adjustment with pharmacokinetic monitoring provided a high response rate and long overall survival with a low incidence of toxicity. [139]

In a randomised designed study, Fety et al. [153] made a direct comparison between the effects of a standard dose of fluorouracil (standard arm: n=57) and an individual dose-adjusted to the AUC_{0-48h} [pharmacokinetic (PK) arm: n=49]. In the standard arm, grade 3/4 neutropenia and thrombocyto-

© Adls International Limited. All rights reserved.

Table VI. Relationship between pharmacokinetics and toxicity of anticancer agents used in advanced colorectal cancer

/hepatic intra-arterial weekly mg/m²/day continuous infusion 000 mg/m² continuous infusion ic intra-arterial 300 mg/m² continuous infusion IV 5 mg/m²/day × 5 continuous on 00 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 600 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus ng/m²/day × 5 continuous infusion	9 29 16 26 24 19 42 40 152 21	CI, AUC AUC AUC AUC Css Clss CI, Css, AUC _{72h} Css C AUC C	Myelosuppression >30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >1.5 μmol/L: leucopenia Leucopenia-group: significantly lower Clss >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significant lower Cl, higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = 100(1-e ^{0.122Css}), r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = 100(1-e ^{0.060Css}), r2 = 0.61 >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity % risk of toxicity ? grade 1 = 1/(1+e ^[α-βlogAUC])	135
000 mg/m² continuous infusion ic intra-arterial 300 mg/m² continuous infusion IV 5 mg/m²/day × 5 continuous ona 00 mg/m²/day continuous infusion 600 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	16 26 24 19 42 40 152 21	AUC AUC Css Clss Cl, Css, AUC _{72h} Css C	>30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >1.5 μmol/L: leucopenia Leucopenia-group: significantly lower Clss >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significant lower Cl, higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = 100(1-e ^{0.122Css}), r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = 100(1-e ^{0.060Css}), r2 = 0.61 >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	135 136 136 137 123 123 138 138 139
ic intra-arterial 300 mg/m² continuous infusion IV 5 mg/m²/day × 5 continuous ona 00 mg/m²/day continuous infusion 600 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	26 24 19 42 40 152 21	AUC Css Clss Cl, Css, AUC _{72h} Css C	>30 mg/L•h: mucositis/diarrhoea/myelosuppression >1.5 μmol/L: leucopenia Leucopenia-group: significantly lower Clss >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significant lower Cl, higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = 100(1-e ^{0.122Css}), r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = 100(1-e ^{0.060Css}), r2 = 0.61 >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	135 136 136 137 123 123 138 138 139
5 mg/m²/day × 5 continuous on a 00 mg/m²/day continuous infusion 600 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	24 19 42 40 152 21	Css Clss Cl, Css, AUC _{72h} Css C AUC C	>1.5 μmol/L: leucopenia Leucopenia-group: significantly lower Clss >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significant lower Cl, higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = 100(1-e ^{0.122Css}), r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = 100(1-e ^{0.060Css}), r2 = 0.61 >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	136 136 137 123 123 138 138 139
ona on on one of the continuous infusion one one one one one one one one one o	19 42 40 152 21	Clss Cl, Css, AUC _{72h} Css C AUC C	Leucopenia-group: significantly lower Clss >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significant lower Cl, higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = 100(1-e ^{0.122Css}), r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = 100(1-e ^{0.060Css}), r2 = 0.61 >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	136 137 123 123 138 138 139
600 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	42 40 152 21	CI, Css, AUC _{72h} Css C AUC C	>WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significant lower CI, higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = $100(1-e^{0.122Css})$, $r2 = 0.80$ % reduction WBC = $100(1-e^{0.060Css})$, $r2 = 0.61$ >3000 μ g/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μ g/L: acute toxicity	137 123 123 138 138 139
600 mg/m²/day × 3 continuous on 2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	42 40 152 21	Css C AUC C	higher AUC _{72h} and Css % frequency mucositis = $100(1-e^{0.122Css})$, r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = $100(1-e^{0.060Css})$, r2 = 0.61 > $3000 \mu g/L$: acute toxicity > $24 mg/L \cdot h$: acute toxicity > $3000 \mu g/L$: acute toxicity	123 123 138 138 139
2000 mg/m² W 8h infusion mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	40 152 21	C AUC C	r2 = 0.80 % reduction WBC = $100(1-e^{0.060Css})$, r2 = 0.61 >3000 µg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 µg/L: acute toxicity	123 138 138 139
mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	152 21	AUC C	>3000 μg/L: acute toxicity >24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	138 138 139
mg/m² W 8h infusion initial (with ge adjustment) 20 mg/m² W bolus	152 21	AUC C	>24 mg/L•h: acute toxicity >3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	138 139
ge adjustment) 20 mg/m ² W bolus	21	С	>3000 μg/L: acute toxicity	139
ge adjustment) 20 mg/m ² W bolus	21		, ,	
•		AUC	% risk of toxicity 2 grade 1 = $1/(1 \pm e^{\alpha-\beta\log AUC})$	140
ng/m²/day × 5 continuous infusion	0.4		70 Hist of toxicity : grade 1 = 17(11ct : 5 - 1)	140
	21	CI decrease by interferon- $\!\alpha$	>20% reduction vs <20% reduction: incidence diarrhoea × 4	141
			>20% reduction vs <20% reduction: incidence mucositis grade 3/4 33% vs 11%	141
ng/m²/day 120h continuous on	89	Cafternoon	High C _{afternoon} correlates with worse leucopenia (p = 0.04) and severity mucositis (p = 0.04)	142
ng/m²/day × 5 continuous infusion	39	C _{mean}	Correlation with haematological toxicity grade (p = 0.001), mucositis grade (p = 0.005), digestive toxicity grade (p = 0.05)	143
ata available				
ng/m 2 , W × 4, 2W rest	40	BI = AUC irinotecan • AUC SN-38 glucuronide	>4.600 ng•h/ml: intestinal toxicity; >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significantly higher BI	72
75 mg/m ² , W \times 4, 2W rest	21	ВІ	>WHO grade 2-diarrhoea group: significantly higher BI	102
1	ta available $g/m^2, W \times 4, 2W \text{rest}$	ta available $g/m^2, W \times 4, 2W \text{ rest} \qquad \qquad 40$	ta available g/m², W × 4, 2W rest 40 BI = AUC irinotecan • AUC SN-38 glucuronide	(p = 0.001), mucositis grade (p = 0.005), digestive toxicity grade (p = 0.005), digestive toxicity grade (p = 0.005) ta available g/m², W × 4, 2W rest 40 BI = AUC irinotecan • AUC SN-38 glucuronide >4.600 ng•h/ml: intestinal toxicity; >WHO grade 2-toxicity group: significantly higher BI >5 mg/m², W × 4, 2W rest >WHO grade 2-diarrhoea group: significantly

Table VI. Contd

Agent	Dosage schedule	No. of patients	Pharmacokinetic parameter	Predictive value for toxicity	References
	350 mg/m², every 3W	47	AUC irinotecan and AUC SN-38	% decrease in neutrophil count	94
	125-150 mg/m ² , W \times 4	43	AUC SN-38 week 3	Severity of diarrhoea	34
	100-750 mg/m², every 3W	64	AUC irinotecan, AUC SN-38	% decrease in WBC count and neutrophil count, grade 2 diarrhoea, nausea, vomiting	144
	60-80 mg/m ² , days 1, 8, $15 \times 4-6^{b}$	11	AUC SN-38 day 1	Platelet nadir	145
			AUC irinotecan and AUC SN-38	Diarrhoea	145
	100-345 mg/m ² , every 3W	32	AUC SN-38	% change in neutrophil count = $(100 \times AUC^{0.7})/(0.51 + AUC^{0.7})$	146
	50-145 mg/m ² W	59	AUC irinotecan and AUC SN-38	Intensity diarrhoea, % decrease in WBC and neutrophil counts	147
	60-90 mg/m ² , days 1, 8, 15 every 4W ^c	25	AUC irinotecan and AUC SN-38	Severity of diarrhoea	148
			AUC irinotecan	Nadir leucocyte count	148
	100 mg/m ² , W \times 4	36	AUC irinotecan, AUC SN-38	Incidence of diarrhoea	71
			AUC irinotecan	% decrease in WBC count	71
	33-750 mg/m ² :	107	AUC irinotecan, AUC SN-38	% decrease in WBC and neutrophil counts	149
	Daily \times 3, every 3 W/W \times 3/every 3 W		AUC irinotecan, AUC SN-38	Intensity diarrhoea, nausea and vomiting	149
			CI irinotecan	% decrease in WBC count and neutrophil count (negative correlation)	149
			CI irinotecan	Intensity diarrhoea, nausea and vomiting (negative correlation)	149
	80-90 mg/m ² , days 1, 8 and 15	23	C _{max} SN-38	Severity diarrhoea	150
			C _{max} 1.75h after start	>12.4 ng/ml: grade 3/4 diarrhoea	150
	33-115 mg/m²/day \times 3, every 3 W	46	AUC irinotecan	Diarrhoea grade	151
Oxaliplatin	130 mg/m², every 3 W	16	RBC platinum levels	Anaemia: significantly higher RBC levels day 8, 15, 22	103

a Coadministration with thymidine.

AUC = area under the concentration-time curve; BI = biliary index; Catternoon = concentration in the afternoon; CI = clearance; CIss = clearance at steady-state; Cmax = maximum concentration; C_{mean} = mean concentration; Css = concentration at steady-state; D = day; H = hour; IV = intravenous; RBC = red blood cell; SN-38 = active metabolite of irinotecan; **W** = week(ly); **WBC** = white blood cell.

b Coadministration with cisplatin.

c Coadministration with etoposide.

penia occurred significantly more frequently than in the PK arm (17.5 vs 7.6%, respectively; p = 0.013). Furthermore, 5.1% grade 3/4 mucositis was observed in the standard arm and none in the PK arm (p < 0.01). The objective response rate between the arms was comparable. [153]

The results from these studies emphasise the clinical significance and benefits of therapeutic drug monitoring for toxicity control and encourage the extension of clinical studies to include dosage individualisation.

4. Discussion

To date, dosage calculation for anticancer drugs has been based on the estimated body surface area of the individual patient, as is done in the search for the maximum tolerated dose of new agents in phase I trials. The body surface area is assumed to be more indicative of the clearance of the individual patient in order to reduce toxicity and improve efficacy in comparison with a dosage calculation based only on bodyweight. Currently, the validity of this approach is being questioned.[80] Calculation of dosage based on body surface area might be 'pseudo'-accurate as the toxicity of anticancer drugs is still a major problem and it is potentially invalidating or even life-threatening. The necessity of toxicity control may be underlined by the fact that in clinical trials, and subsequently in clinical practice, an incidence 33% for dose-limiting toxicity (> NCI common toxicity criteria grade 2) is frequently exceeded (see tables I, II and III). This level is considered to be a threshold percentage for assessing the recommended dosage in phase I studies.^[154]

Therefore, until drugs are introduced that have a higher therapeutic index, it will be necessary to search for more adequate predicting factors with respect to toxicity.

In this review, several risk factors that relate to pharmacokinetics have been described which determine chemotherapeutic toxicity in patients with colorectal cancer. The information available in the literature is fragmented and often, particularly for the new cytotoxic agents, incomplete. This, along with the increasing concern for patients' quality of

life, necessitates performing further prospective studies on risk factors. Yet we should keep in mind that, in general, the coefficient of a correlation between a pharmacokinetic parameter and efficacy does not exceed 0.7. This means that only half of the variability of tumour response can be explained by drug distribution and elimination and that the other half depends predominantly on the cellular and molecular determinants.^[58] However, regarding toxicity, dose individualisation of fluorouracil based on pharmacokinetic parameters has been proven to be beneficial. In fact, the results of these trials are most stimulating for further investigations of toxicity control by therapeutic drug monitoring using the AUC as a leading parameter.

In addition to therapeutic drug monitoring, dose adaptation based on knowledge of risk factors for toxicity is more appropriate for individualising chemotherapy than just calculating the dose based on body surface area. For fluorouracil, age, gender, performance status, history of previous chemotherapy-related diarrhoea, xerostomia, low neutrophil levels, circadian rhythm of plasma concentrations and drug-drug interactions seem to be the factors that have to be taken into consideration when determining the individual dose or dose schedule. Moreover, with unexpected fluorouracil toxicity, exclusion of DPD deficiency is advised. Similarly, for irinotecan, assessing the UDPGT-1A1 activity can be recommended when severe toxicity is experienced. Other significant factors for irinotecan toxicity are age, performance status, bilirubinaemia and administration schedule.

For raltitrexed, gender and renal and hepatic impairment are the most significant critical factors. Oxaliplatin should not be used in patients with severe renal impairment, while the circadian rhythm of oxaliplatin plasma concentrations is a target for dose optimisation.

Future studies may reveal additional data about risk factors, which will lead to an advancement in the identification of patients at risk for toxicity. However, the data currently available can be used for toxicity control in individual patients with colorectal cancer. The definite benefits of the imple-

menting current knowledge of risk factors in terms of improving the therapeutic index and quality of life for patients with colorectal cancer have yet to be determined.

References

- Van Triest B, Van Groeningen CJ, Pinedo HM. Current chemotherapeutic possibilities in the treatment of colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 1995; 31A: 1193-7
- 2. Midgley R, Kerr D. Colorectal cancer. Lancet 1999; 353: 391-9
- 3. Bleiberg H. Colorectal cancer: is there an alternative to 5-FU? Eur J Cancer 1997; 33: 536-41
- Labianca R, Pessi MA, Zamparelli G. Treatment of colorectal cancer: current guidelines and future prospects for drug therapy. Drugs 1997; 53: 593-607
- Machover D. A comprehensive review of 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. Cancer 1997; 80: 1179-87
- Seymour MT. Colorectal cancer: treatment of advanced disease. Cancer Treat Rev 1998; 24: 119-31
- De Gramont A, Bosset J, Milan C, et al. Randomised trial comparing monthly low-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus with bimonthly high-dose leucovorin and fluorouracil bolus plus continuous infusion for advanced colorectal cancer: a French intergroup study. J Clin Oncol 1997; 15: 808-15
- Poon MA, O'Connell MJ, Moertel CG, et al. Biochemical modulation of fluorouracil: evidence of significant improvement of survival and quality of life in patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1989; 7: 1407-17
- Poon MA, O'Connell MJ, Wieand HS, et al. Biochemical modulation of fluorouracil with leucovorin: confirmatory evidence of improved therapeutic efficacy in advanced colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1991; 9: 1967-72
- Machover D, Goldschmidt E, Chollet P, et al. Treatment of advanced colorectal and gastric adenocarcinomas with 5-fluorouracil and high-dose folinic acid. J Clin Oncol 1986; 4: 685-96
- Petrioli R, Lorenzi M, Aquino A, et al. Treatment of advanced colorectal cancer with high-dose intensity folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil plus supportive care. Eur J Cancer 1995; 31A: 2105-8
- O'Connell. A phase III trial of 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer. A Mayo clinic/North Central Cancer Treatment Group Study. Cancer 1989; 63: 1026-30
- Leichman CG, Fleming TR, Muggia FM, et al. Phase II study of fluorouracil and its modulation in advanced colorectal cancer: a Southwest Oncology Group study. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 1303-11
- Buroker TR, O'Connell MJ, Wieand HS, et al. Randomized comparison of two schedules of fluorouracil and leucovorin in the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1994: 12: 14-20
- Fried G, Tsalik M, Stein M, et al. 5-Fluorouracil and low-dose leucovorin in metastatic colorectal cancer: a pilot study. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1995; 35: 437-40
- Petrelli N, Herrera L, Rustum Y, et al. A prospective randomized trial of 5-fluorouracil versus 5-fluorouracil and high-dose leucovorin versus 5-fluorouracil and methotrexate in previous untreated patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1987; 5: 1559-65

- Nobile MT, Rosso R, Sertoli MR, et al. Randomised comparison of weekly bolus 5-fluorouracil with or without leucovorin in metastatic colorectal carcinoma. Eur J Cancer 1992; 28A: 1823-7
- Petrelli N, Douglass HO, Herrera L, et al. The modulation of fluorouracil with leucovorin in metastatic colorectal carcinoma: a prospective randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 1989; 7: 1419-26
- Jäger E, Heike M, Bernhard H, et al. Weekly high-dose leucovorin combined with fluorouracil in advanced colorectal cancer: results of a randomized multicenter trial. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 2274-9
- De Gramont A, Krulik M, Cady J, et al. High-dose folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil bolus and continuous infusion in advanced colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 1988; 24: 1499-503
- Johnson PWM, Thompson PI, Seymour MT, et al. A less toxic regimen of 5-fluorouracil and high-dose folinic acid for advanced gastrointestinal carcinoma. Br J Cancer 1991; 64: 603-5
- Ardalan B, Chua L, Tian EM, et al. A phase II study of weekly 24-hour infusion with high-dose fluorouracil with leucovorin in colorectal carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1991; 9: 625-30
- 23. Köhne CH, Wilke H, Hecker H, et al. Interferon-alpha does not improve the antineoplastic efficacy of high-dose infusional 5fluorouracil plus folinic acid in advanced colorectal cancer. First results of a randomized multicenter study by the Association of Medical Oncology of the German Cancer Society (AIO). Ann Oncol 1995; 6: 461-6
- Yang TS, Hsu KC, Chiang JM, et al. A simplified regimen of weekly high dose 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin as a 24-hour infusion in patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma. Cancer 1999; 85: 1925-30
- Köhne CH, Schöffski P, Wilke H, et al. Effective biomodulation by leucovorin of high-dose infusion fluorouracil given as a weekly 24-hour infusion: results of a randomized trial in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 418-26
- Weh HJ, Dierlamm J, Hossfeld DK. Weekly therapy with folinic acid and high-dose 5-fluorouracil 24-hour infusion in previously untreated patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. Eur J Cancer 1994; 30A: 890-1
- 27. Chiara S, Nobile MT, Barzacchi C, et al. Hand-foot syndrome induced by high-dose, short-term, continuous 5-fluorouracil infusion. Eur J Cancer 1997; 33: 967-9
- Leichman CG, Leichman L, Spears CP, et al. Prolonged continuous infusion of fluorouracil with weekly bolus leucovorin: a phase II study in patients with disseminated colorectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993; 85: 41-4
- Meta-Analysis Group in Cancer. Toxicity of fluorouracil in patients with advance colorectal cancer: effect of administration schedule and prognostic factors. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 3537-41
- Zalcberg JR, Cunningham D, Van Cutsem E, et al. ZD1694: a novel thymidylate sunthase inhibitor with substantial activity in the treatment of patients with advanced colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 716-21
- Cunningham D, Zalcberg JR, Rath U, et al. Final results of a randomised trial comparing 'Tomudex' (raltitrexed) with 5fluorouracil plus leucovorin in advanced colorectal cancer. Tomudex Colorectal Cancer Study Group. Ann Oncol 1996; 7 (9): 961-5
- Cocconi G, Cunningham D, Van Cutsem E, et al. Open, randomized, multicenter trial of raltitrexed versus fluorouracil plus highdose leucovorin in patients with advanced colorectal cancer.

- Tomudex Colorectal Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 2943-52
- Rothenberg ML, Cox JV, DeVore RF, et al. A multicenter, phase II trial of weekly irinotecan (CPT-11) in patients with previously treated colorectal carcinoma. Cancer 1999; 85: 786-95
- Rothenberg ML, Eckardt JR, Kuhn JG, et al. Phase II trial of irinotecan in patients with progressive or rapidly recurrent colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 1128-35
- Rougier P, Van Cutsem E, Bajetta E, et al. Randomized trial of irinotecan versus fluorouracil by continuous infusion after fluorouracil failure in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Lancet 1998; 352: 1407-12
- Rougier P, Bugat R, Douillard JY, et al. Phase II study of irinotecan in the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer in chemotherapy-naive patients and patients pretreated with fluorouracil-based chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 1997: 251-60
- Cunningham D, Pyrhönen S, James RD, et al. Randomised trial
 of irinotecan plus supportive care versus supportive care
 alone after fluorouracil failure for patients with metastatic
 colorectal cancer. Lancet 1998; 352: 1413-8
- Van Cutsem E, Cunningham D, Ten Bokkel Huinink WW, et al. Clinical activity and benefit of irinotecan (CPT-11) in patients with colorectal cancer truly resistant to 5-fluorouracil (5-FU). Eur J Cancer 1999; 35: 54-9
- 39. Tsavaris N, Ziras N, Kosmas C, et al. Two different schedules of irinotecan (CPT-11) administration in patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma relapsing after a 5-fluorouracil(5-FU)leucovorin(FA) combination chemotherapy. Preliminary results of a randomized study [abstract no. 998]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1999; 18: 260a
- Bécouarn Y, Ychou M, Ducreux M, et al. Phase II trial of oxaliplatin as first-line chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1998; 2739-44
- 41. Machover D, Diaz-Rubio E, De Gramont A, et al. Two consecutive phase II studies of oxaliplatin (L-OHP) for treatment of patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma who were resistent to previous treatment with fluoropyrimidines. Ann Oncol 1996; 7: 95-8
- Diaz-Rubio E, Sastre J, Zaniboni A, et al. Oxaliplatin as single agent in previously untreated colorectal carcinoma patients: a phase II multicentric study. Ann Oncol 1998; 9: 105-8
- 43. Van Cutsem E, Pozzo C, Starkhammer H, et al. A phase II study of irinotecan alternated with five days bolus of 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in first-line chemotherapy of metastatic colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol 1998; 9: 1199-204
- 44. Andre T, Louvet, Maindrault-Goebel F, et al. CPT-11 (irinotecan) addition to bimonthly, high-dose leucovorin and bolus and continuous-infusion 5-fluorouracil (FOLFIRI) for pretreated metastatic colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 1999; 35: 1343-7
- 45. Douillard JY, Cunningham D, Roth AD, et al. Irinotecan combined with fluorouracil compared with fluorouracil alone as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 2000; 355: 1041-7
- 46. Saltz LB, Locker PK, Pirotta N, et al. Weekly irinotecan (CPT-11), leucovorin (LV), and fluorouracil (FU) is superior to daily × 5 LV/FU in patients (pts) with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer (CRC) [abstract 898]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1999; 18: 233a
- De Gramont A, Vignoud J, Tournigand C, et al. Oxaliplatin with high-dose leucovorin and 5-fluorouracil 48-hour continuous infusion in pretreated metastatic colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 1997; 33: 214-9

- Andre T, Louvet C, Raymond E, et al. Bimonthly high-dose leucovorin, 5-fluorouracil infusion and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX3) for metastatic colorectal cancer resistant to the same leucovorin and 5-fluorouracil regimen. Ann Oncol 1998; 9: 1251-3
- Andre T, Bensmaine MA, Louvet C, et al. Multicenter phase II study of bimonthly high-dose leucovorin, fluorouracil infusion, and oxaliplatin for metastatic colorectal cancer resistant to the same leucovorin and fluorouracil regimen. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 3560-8
- Maindrault-Goebel F, louvet C, Andre T, et al. Oxaliplatin added to the simplified bimonthly leucovorin and 5-fluorouracil regimen as second-line therapy for metastatic colorectal cancer (FOLFOX6). Eur J Cancer 1999; 35: 1338-42
- 51. Brienza S, Bensmaïne MA, Soulié P, et al. Oxaliplatin added to 5-fluorouracil-based therapy (5-FU ± FA) in the treatment of 5-FU-pretreated patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma (ACRC): results from the European compassionate-use program. Ann Oncol 1999; 10: 1311-6
- 52. Janinis J, Papakostas P, Samelis G, et al. Second-line chemotherapy with weekly oxaliplatin and high-dose 5-fluorouracil with folinic acid in metastatic colorectal carcinoma: a Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group (HeCOG) phase II feasibility study. Ann Oncol 2000; 11: 163-7
- Scheithauser W, Kornek GV, Raderer M, et al. Combined irinotecan and oxaliplating plus granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with advanced fluoropyrimidine/ leucovorin-pretreated colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 902-6
- 54. Zalcberg J, Kerr D, Seymour L, et al. Haematological and nonhaematological toxicity after 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in patients with advanced colorectal cancer is significantly associated with gender increasing age and cycle number. Eur J Cancer 1998; 34: 1871-5
- 55. Stein BN, Petrelli NJ, Douglass HO, et al. Age and sex are independent predictors of 5-fluorouracil toxicity. Analysis of a large scale phase III trial. Cancer 1995; 75: 11-7
- Gurney H. Dose calculation of anticancer drugs: a review of the current practice and introduction of an alternative. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 2590-611
- Sloan JA, Loprinzi CL, Novotny PJ, et al. Sex differences in fluorouracil-induced stomatitis. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18: 412-20
- Desoize B, Robert J. Individual dose adaptation of anticancer drugs. Eur J Cancer 1994; 30A: 844-51
- Harris BE, Carpenter JT, Diasio RB. Severe 5-fluorouracil toxicity secondary to dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency. A potentially more common pharmacogenetic syndrome. Cancer 1991; 68: 499-501
- Boddy AV, Ratain MJ. Pharmacogenetics in cancer etiology and chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res 1997; 3: 1025-3068. Judson IR, Aherne GW, Maughan T, et al. Pharmacokinetic studies with Tomudex (ZD 1694) [abstract 304]. Ann Oncol 1996; 7 Suppl. 1: 88
- Milano G, Etienne MC, Pierrefite V, et al. Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency and fluorouracil-related toxicity. Br J Cancer 1999; 79: 627-30
- Ridge SA, Sludden J, Wei X, et al. Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase pharmacogenetics in patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 1998; 77: 497-500
- Etienne MC, Lagrange JL, Dassonville O, et al. Population study of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1994; 12: 2248-53
- Metzger G, Massari C, Etienne MC, et al. Spontaneous or imposed circadian changes in plasma concentrations of 5-fluo-

- rouracil coadministered with folinic acid and oxaliplatin: relationship with mucosal toxicity in patients with cancer. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1994; 56: 190-201
- 65. Bochicchio AM, Galasso R, Ignomirelli O, et al. Complete reversibility of mucositis and diarrhea induced by 5-fluorouracil in continuous infusion and 1-leucovorin by using a chronomodulated schedule in advanced gastrointestinal cancer patients [abstract 1067]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1999; 18: 278a
- Cascinu S, Barni S, Labianca R, et al. Evaluation of factors influencing 5-fluorouracil-induced diarrhea in colorectal cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 1997; 5: 314-7
- McCarthy GM, Awde JD, Ghandi H, et al. Risk factors associated with mucositis in cancer patients receiving 5-fluorouracil. Oral Oncol 1998; 34: 484-90
- Judson IR, Aherne GW, Maughan T, et al. Pharmacokinetic studies with Tomudex (ZD 1694) [abstract 304]. Ann Oncol 1996; 7 Suppl. 1: S88
- Judson I, Maughan T, Beale P, et al. Effects of impaired renal function on the pharmacokinetics of raltitrexed (Tomudex ZD1694). Br J Cancer 1998; 78: 1188-93
- Drengler RL, Kuhn JG, Schaaf LJ, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic trial with oral irinotecan adminstered daily for 5 days every 3 weeks in patients with solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 685-96
- Sasaki Y, Hakusui H, Mizuno S, et al. A pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analysis of CPT-11 and its active metabolite SN-38. Jpn J Cancer Res 1995; 86: 101-10
- Gupta E, Mick R, Ramirez J, et al. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluation of the topoisomerase inhibitor ir-inotecan in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1997; 15: 1502-10
- Data on file. Amstelveen, The Netherlands: Rhone-Poulenc Rorer BV, 1999
- Canal P, Chatelut E, Guichard S. Practical treatment guide for dose individualisation in cancer chemotherapy. Drugs 1998; 56: 1019-38
- Wasserman E, Myara A, Lokiec F, et al. Severe CPR-11 toxicity in patients with Gilbert's syndrome: two case reports. Ann Oncol 1997; 8: 1049-51
- Eloxatin (Oxaliplatin). Summary of product characteristics. Maassluis, The Netherlands: Sanofi BV, 1999
- 77. Caussanel JP, Lévi F, Brienza S, et al. Phase I trial of 5-day continuous infusion of oxaliplatin at circadian rhythm-modulated rate compared with constant rate. J Natl Cancer Inst 1990; 82: 1046-50
- Freyer G, Ligneau B, Tranchand B, et al. Pharmacokinetic studies in cancer chemotherapy: usefulness in clinical practice. Cancer Treat Rev 1997; 23: 153-69
- Kobayashi K, Ratain MJ. Individualizing dosing of cancer chemotherapy. Semin Oncol 1993; 20: 30-42
- Ratain MJ. Body-surface area as a basis for dosing of anticancer agents: science, myth or habit? J Clin Oncol 1998; 16; 2297-8
- Morgan DJ, Bray KM. Lean body mass as a predictor of drug dosage: implications for drug therapy. Clin Pharmacokinet 1994; 26: 292-307
- 82. Reilly JJ, Workman P. Is body composition an important variable in the pharmacokinetics of anticancer drugs? Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1994; 34: 3-13
- Fleming RA, Milano GA, Etienne MC, et al. No effect of dose, hepatic function or nutritional status on 5-FU clearance following continuous (5-day), 5-FU infusion. Br J Cancer 1992; 66: 668-72
- 84. Port RE, Daniel B, Ding RW, et al. Relative importance of dose, body surface area, sex, and age for 5-fluorouracil clearance. Oncology 1991; 48: 277-81

- Milano G, Etienne MC, Cassuto-Viguier E, et al. Influence of sex and age on fluorouracil clearance. J Clin Oncol 1992; 10: 1171-5
- 86. Roila F, Lupattelli M, Sassi M, et al. Intra and interobserver variability in cancer patients' performance status assessed according to Karnofsky and ECOG scales. Ann Oncol 1991; 2: 437-9
- 87. Port RE, Edler L, Herrmann R, et al. Pharmacokinetics of 5-fluorouracil after short systemic infusion: plasma level at the end of the distribution phase as an indicator of the total area under the plasma concentration-time curve. Ther Drug Monit 1991; 13: 96-102
- Chabot GG. Clinical pharmacokinetics of irinotecan. Clin Pharmacokinet 1997; 33: 245-59
- Massari C, Brienza S, Rotarski M, et al. Pharmacokinetics of oxaliplatin in patients with normal versus impaired renal function. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2000; 45: 157-64
- Chabot GG. Factors involved in clinical pharmacology variability in oncology. Anticancer Res 1994; 14: 2269-72
- Christophidis N, Vajda FJE, Lucas I, et al. Fluorouracil therapy in patients with carcinoma of the large bowel: a pharmacokinetic comparison of various rates of administration. Clin Pharmacokinet 1978; 3: 330-6
- Nowakowska-Dulawa E. Circardian rhythm of 5-fluorouracil (FU) pharmacokinetics and tolerance. Chronobiologica 1990; 17: 27-35
- Pinedo HM, Peters GFJ. Fluorouracil: biochemistry and pharmacology. J Clin Oncol 1988: 1653-64
- Canal P, Gay C, Dezeuze A, Douillard JY, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of irinotecan during phase II clinical trial in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 2688-95
- Raymond E, Vernillet L, Boige V, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic (PK) study of irinotecan (CPT-11) in cancer patients (pts) with hepatic dysfunction [abstract 634]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1999; 18: 165a
- Extra JM, Marty M, Brienza S, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety profile of oxaliplatin. Semin Oncol 1998; 25 (S5): 13-22
- 97. Liliemark J, Peterson C. Pharmacokinetic optimisation of anticancer therapy. Clin Pharmacokinet 1991; 21: 213-31
- Grandison MK, Boudinot FD. Age-related changes in protein binding of drugs: implications for therapy. Clin Pharmacokinet 2000; 38: 271-90
- Steinberg J, Ehrlichman C, Gadalla T, et al. Prognostic factors in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer receiving 5-fluorouracil and folinic acid. Eur J Cancer 1992; 28A: 1817-20
- 100. Fluracedyl (5-Fluorouracil). Summary of product characteristics. Haarlem, The Netherlands: Pharmachemie BV, 1999
- 101. Tomudex (Raltitrexed). Summary of product characteristics. Ridderkerk, The Netherlands: Zeneca BV, 1997
- 102. Gupta E, Lestingi TM, Mick R, et al. Metabolic fate of irinotecan in humans: correlation of glucuronidation with diarrhea. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 3723-5
- 103. Gamelin E, Le Bouil A, Boisdron-Celle M, et al. Cumulative pharmacokinetic study of oxaliplatin, administered every three weeks, combined with 5-fluorouracil in colorectal cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 1997; 3: 891-9
- 104. Baker SD, Khor SP, Adjei AA, et al. Pharmacokinetic, oral bioavailability, and safety study of fluorouracil in patients treated with 776C85, an inactivator of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 3085-96
- Naguib FNM, Hao SN, El Kouni MH. Potentiation of 5-fluorouracil efficacy by the dihydrouracil dehydrogenase inhibitor, 5-benzyloxybenzyluracil. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 5166-70

- Editorial. Drug-company decision to end cancer trial. Lancet 1999: 354: 1045
- 107. Kerr D. Safety of raltitrexed. Lancet 1999; 354: 1825
- 108. Iyer L, King CD, Whitington PF, et al. Genetic predisposition to the metabolism of irinotecan (CPT-11). Role of uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase isoform 1A1 in the glucuronidation of its active metabolite (SN-38) in the human liver microsomes. J Clin Invest 1998; 101: 847-54
- Raymond E, Chaney SG, Taamma A, et al. Oxaliplatin: a review of preclinical and clinical studies. Ann Oncol 1998; 9: 1053-71
- 110. Harris BE, Song R, Soong S, et al. Relationship between dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity and plasma 5-fluorouracil levels with evidence for circadian variation of enzyme activity and plasma drug levels in cancer patients receiving 5-fluorouracil by protracted continuous infusion. Cancer Res 1990; 50: 197-201
- 111. Petit E, Milano G, Lévi F, et al. Circadian rhythm-varying plasma concentration of 5-fluorouracil during a five-day continuous venous infusion at a constant rate in cancer patients. Cancer Res 1988; 48: 1676-9
- Peters GJ, Schornagel JH, Milano GA. Clinical pharmacokinetics of anti-metabolites. Cancer Surv 1993; 17: 123-56
- 113. Giacchetti, Perpoint B, Zidani R, et al. Phase III multicenter randomized trial of oxaliplatin added to chronomodulated fluorouracil-leucovorin as first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18: 136-47
- 114. Giacchetti S, Zidani R, Goldwasser F, et al. Chronomodulated CPT-11. Apilot study [abstract 996]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1999: 18: 259a
- 115. Levi F, Perpoint B, Garufi C, et al. Oxaliplatin activity against metastatic colorectal cancer. A phase II study of 5-day continuous venous infusion at circadian rhythm modulated rate. Eur J Cancer 1993; 29A: 1280-4
- Levi F, Zidani R, Misset JL. Randomised multicentre trial of chronotherapy with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and folinic acid in metastatic colorectal cancer. Lancet 1997; 350: 681-6
- 117. Bertheault-Cvitkovic F, Jami A, Ithzaki M, et al. Biweekly intensified ambulatory chronomodulated chemotherapy with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1996: 14: 2950-8
- 118. Levi FA, Zidani R, Vannetzel JM, et al. Chronomodulated versus fixed-infusion-rate delivery of ambulatory chemotherapy with oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil, and folinic acid (leucovorin) in patients with colorectal cancer metastases: a randomized multi-institutional trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 1994; 86: 1608-17
- Sandor V. Chronotherapy with 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and folinic acid in colorectal cancer. Lancet 1997; 350: 1325-6
- 120. Levi F, Zidani R, Brienza S, et al. A multicenter evaluation of intensified, ambulatory, chronomodulated chemotherapy with oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil, and leucovorin as initial treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. Cancer 1999: 85: 2532-40
- 121. Howell SB, Wung WE, Taetle R, et al. Modulation of 5-fluorouracil toxicity by allopurinol in man. Cancer 1991; 48: 1281-9
- 122. Woolley PV, Ayoob MJ, Smith FP, et al. A controlled trial of the effect of 4-hydroxypyrazolopyrimidine (allopurinol) on the toxicity of a single bolus dose of 5-fluorouracil. J Clin Oncol 1985; 3: 103-9
- 123. Trump DL, Egorin MJ, Forrest A, et al. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analysis of fluorouracil during 72-hour continuous infusion with and without dipyridamol. J Clin Oncol 1991; 9: 2027-35

- Bardakji Z, Jolivet J, Langelier Y, et al. 5-Fluorouracil-metronidazole combination therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1986; 18: 140-4
- Harvey VJ, Slevin ML, Dilloway MR, et al. The influence of cimetidine on the pharmacokinetics of 5-fluorouracil. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1984; 18: 421-30
- Brown MC. Multisite mucous membrane bleeding due to a possible interaction between warfarin and 5-fluorouracil. Pharmacotherapy 1997; 17: 631-3
- Loadman PM, Bibby MC. Pharmacokinetic drug interactions with anticancer drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet 1994; 26: 486-500
- Gupta E, Wang X, Ramirez J, et al. Modulation of glucuronidation of SN-38, the active metabolite of irinotecan, by valproic acid and phenobarbital. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1997; 39: 440-4
- Gupta E, Safa AR, Wang X, et al. Pharmacokinetic modulation of irinotecan and metabolites by cyclosporin A. Cancer Res 1996; 56: 1309-14
- Eder I, Czejka MJ, Schüller, et al. Clinical pharmacokinetics (PHK) and metabolism of irinotecan (IRINO) during monoand polychemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil-leucovorin (5-FU/LV) or docetaxel (DOCE) [abstract 059]. Proc Eur Soc Clin Pharm 1999; 28: 27A
- 131. Lokiec F, Wasserman E, Santoni E, et al. Pharmacokinetics (Pk) of irinotecan (CPT-11)/oxaliplatin (LOHP) combination: Preliminary data of an ongoing phase I trial [abstract 514]. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 1997; 38: 76
- 132. Wasserman E, Cuvier C, Lokiec F, et al. Combination of oxaliplatin plus irinotecan in patients with gastrointestinal tumors: results of two independent phase I studies with pharmacokinetics. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 1751-9
- 133. Goldberg JA, Kerr DJ, Willmott N, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of locoregional 5 fluorouracil (5FU) in advanced colorectal liver metastases. Br J Cancer 1988; 57: 186-9
- 134. Thyss A, Milano G, Renee N, et al. Clinical pharmacokinetic study of 5-FU in continuous 5-day infusion for head and neck cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1986; 16: 64-6
- Milano G, Roman P, Khater R, et al. Dose versus pharmacokinetics for predicting tolerance to 5-day continuous infusion of 5-FU. Int J Cancer 1988; 41: 537-41
- Au JLS, Rustum YM, Ledesma EJ, et al. Clinical pharmacological studies of concurrent infusion of 5-fluorouracil and thymidine in treatment of colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 1982; 42: 2930.7
- Yoshida T, Araki E, Ligo M, et al. Clinical significance of monitoring serum levels of 5-fluorouracil by continuous infusion in patients with advanced colonic cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1990; 26: 352-4
- 138. Gamelin EC, Danquechin-Dorval EM, Dumesnil YF, et al. Relationship between 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) dose intensity and therapeutic response in patients with advanced colorectal cancer receiving infusional therapy containing 5-FU. Cancer 1996; 77: 441-51
- 139. Gamelin E, Boisdron-Celle M, Delva R, et al. Long-term weekly treatment of colorectal metastatic cancer with fluorouracil and leucovorin: results of a multicentric prospective trial of fluorouracil dosage optimization by pharmacokinetic monitoring in 152 patients. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 1470-8
- 140. Van Groeningen CJ, Pinedo HM, Heddes J, et al. Pharmacokinetics of 5-fluorouracil assessed with a sensitive mass spectrometric method in patients on a dose escalation schedule. Cancer Res 1988; 48: 6956-61

- 141. Danhauser LL, Freimann JH, Gilchrist TL, et al. Phase I and plasma pharmacokinetic study of infusional fluorouracil combined with recombinant interferon alfa-2b in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol 1993; 11: 751-61
- Vokes EE, Mick R, Kies MS, et al. Pharmacodynamics of fluorouracil-based induction chemotherapy in advanced head and neck cancer. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 1663-71
- 143. Schneider M, Etienne MC, Milano G, et al. Phase II trial of cisplatin, fluorouracil, and pure l folinic acid for locally advanced head and neck cancer: a pharmacokinetic and clinical survey. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 1656-62
- 144. Abigerges D, Chabot GG, Armand JP, et al. Phase I and pharmacological studies of the camptothecin analog irinotecan administered every 3 weeks in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 210-21
- 145. Sumiyoshi H, Fujiwara Y, Ohashi N, et al. Clinical pharmacological evaluation of CPT-11 and cisplatin (CDDP) in patients with small cell lung cancer (SCLC) [abstract 1470]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1995; 14: 457
- 146. Rowinsky EK, Grochow LB, Ettinger DS, et al. Phase I and pharmacological study of the novel topoisomerase I inhibitor 7-ethyl-10-[4-(1-piperidino)-1-piperidino]carbonyloxycam ptothecin (CPT-11) administered as a ninety-minute infusion every 3 weeks. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 427-36
- 147. De Forni M, Bugat R, Chabot GG, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of the camptothecin derivate irinotecan, administered on a weekly schedule in cancer patients. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 4347-54
- 148. Masuda N, Fukuoka, Kudoh S, et al. Phase I and pharmacologic study of irinotecan and etoposide with recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor support for advanced lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 1994; 12: 1833-41

- 149. Chabot GG, Abigerges D, Catimel G, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of irinotecan (CPT-11) and active metabolite SN-38 during phase I trials. Ann Oncol 1995: 6: 141-51
- Kudoh S, Fukuoka M, Masuda N, et al. Relationship between the pharmacokinetics of irinotecan and diarrhea during combination chemotherapy with cisplatin. Jpn J Cancer Res 1995; 86: 406-13
- 151. Catimel G, Chabot GG, Guastalla JP, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of irinotecan (CPT-11) administered daily for three consecutive days every three weeks in patients with advanced solid tumors. Ann Oncol 1995; 6: 133-40
- 152. Santini J, Milano G, Thyss A, et al. 5-FU therapeutic drug monitoring with dose adjustment leads to an improved therapeutic index in head and neck cancer. Br J Cancer 1989; 59: 287-90
- 153. Fety R, Rolland F, Barberi-Heyob M, et al. Clinical impact of pharmacokinetically-guided dose adaptation of 5-fluorouracil: results from a multicentric randomized trial in patients with locally advanced head and neck carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res 1998; 4: 2039-45
- 154. Simon R, Freidlin B, Rubinstein L, et al. Accelerated titration design for phase I clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997; 89: 1138-47

Correspondence and offprints: Dr Frank G.A. Jansman, State University Groningen, Department of Social Pharmacy and Pharmacoepidemiology, Research Institute GUIDE, Antonius Deusinglaan 1, 9713 AV Groningen, The Netherlands. E-mail: f.g.a.jansman@isala.nl